

## **COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT**

## between

# **TOWNSHIP OF DELHI**

and

# **DELHI FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION**

### **Effective**

**January 1, 2021** 

through

**December 31, 2023** 

## Contents

ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE 2	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE 3	ASSOCIATION SECURITY	7
ARTICLE 4	REPRESENTATIVES	8
ARTICLE 5	No Strike	9
ARTICLE 6	GRIEVANCE ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	. 10
ARTICLE 7	DISCIPLINE	. 13
ARTICLE 8	PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	. 14
ARTICLE 9	PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS	. 15
ARTICLE 10	ALLOWANCES	. 16
ARTICLE 11	Uniforms	. 17
ARTICLE 12	HOLIDAYS	. 18
ARTICLE 13	PHYSICALS & FITNESS	. 19
ARTICLE 14	ACCIDENT INSURANCE	.21
ARTICLE 15	SENIORITY	. 22
ARTICLE 16	UNPAID LEAVE	. 24
ARTICLE 17	COURT APPEARANCES	. 25
ARTICLE 18	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	. 26
ARTICLE 19	PERSONNEL FILES	. 30
ARTICLE 20	LONGEVITY PAY	.31
ARTICLE 21	WAGES	. 32
ARTICLE 22	Non-Discrimination	. 33
ARTICLE 23	LABOR / MANAGEMENT MEETINGS	. 34
ARTICLE 24	ASSOCIATION BUSINESS	. 35
ARTICLE 25	COPY OF AGREEMENT	. 36
ARTICLE 26	GENERAL PROVISIONS	. 37
ARTICLE 27	Savings Clause	. 38
ARTICLE 28	EXPIRATION	. 39

This Agreement is made and entered into this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2021, by and between the Township of Delhi, hereby referred to as the "Township," and the Delhi Firefighters Association, hereby referred to as the "Association."

It is the intent and purpose of this agreement to promote and improve harmonious relations between the Township and its part-time firefighter employees, to set forth a basic Agreement and to provide a procedure for the prompt disposition of grievances so that there shall be no interruption or impeding of the work.

Whenever the male pronoun or adjective is used in the agreement, it shall be deemed also to include the female, unless otherwise indicated.

Nothing in this agreement shall be interpreted to prevent the Township from complying with Federal discrimination or other similar laws.

## Article 1 Recognition

The Township hereby recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive representative and collective bargaining agent for all part-time firefighter employees. The Township recognizes the right of the employees covered by this Agreement to elect representatives to represent the bargaining unit for the Association.

## **Article 2** Management Rights

**Section 2.1** The Association recognizes the Township's exclusive right to manage its affairs and the township retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and constitutions of the State of Ohio and of the United States and the Resolutions of the Township of Delhi. Further, all rights which ordinarily vest in and are exercised by employers except as specifically relinquished herein are reserved to and remain vested in the Township, including but without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

- a) The right to manage its affairs efficiently and economically, including the determination of quantity, quality, frequency and type of services to be rendered; the determination, purchase and control of the types and numbers of materials, machines, tools and equipment to be used; the selection of the location, number and type of its facilities and installations; and the addition or discontinuance of any services, facilities, equipment, materials or methods of operation.
- b) The right to hire and set the starting rate of pay for new employees; to determine the starting and quitting time and the number of hours to be worked, including overtime, lunch, coffee breaks, rest periods and clean-up times; and to determine the amount of supervision necessary, work schedules and the method or process by which work is performed.
- c) The right to contract, subcontract and purchase any or all work, processes or services or the construction of new facilities or the improvement of existing facilities; to adopt, revise and enforce working rules and carry out cost control and general improvement programs; and to establish, change, combine or discontinue job classifications and prescribe and assign job duties, content and classification and establish wage rates for any new or changed classifications.
- d) The right to determine the existence or non-existence of facts which are the bases of the management decisions; to establish or continue policies, practices or procedures for the conduct of the Fire Department and its services to the citizens of Delhi Township and, from time to time, to change or abolish such practices or procedures: to determine and, from time to time, re-determine the number, locations and relocations and types of its employees or to discontinue any performance of service by employees of the Township of Delhi; to determine the number of hours per day or week any operation of the Fire Department may be carried on; to select and determine the number and types of employees required; to assign such work to such employees in accordance with the requirements determined by management authorities; to establish training programs and upgrading requirements for employees within the Department; to establish and change work schedules and assignments; to transfer, promote or demote employees, or to layoff, terminate or otherwise relieve employees from duty for lack of work or other reasons; to continue,

alter, make and enforce reasonable rules for the maintenance of discipline; to suspend, discharge, or otherwise discipline employees for just cause and otherwise to take such measures as the management may determine to be necessary for the orderly and efficient operation of the Fire Department of the Township of Delhi, Ohio, subject to the terms of this Agreement; provided, however, nothing herein shall prevent employees from presenting their grievances for an alleged violation of any article or specific term of this Agreement.

**Section 2.2** The parties further agree that the management rights as set forth in Section 4117.08 of the Ohio Revised Code are incorporated by reference and that the recitation of the above management rights herein does not make them subject to bargaining in the future. Nothing in this Article shall abrogate rights otherwise obtained through negotiations or as in other clauses of the Agreement.

### **Article 3** Association Security

**Section 3.1** Upon the written authorization of the employee, the Township agrees to deduct each pay period from the wages of each employee a specific amount for membership dues, initiation fees, and assessments. This shall be in effect until the employee revokes the authorization by written notice to the Human Resource Manager or until the employee's employment by the Township is terminated. Any money so deducted shall be remitted to the Association with a listing of the employees for whom deductions were made and the amount remitted for each such employee. If an employee does not have a check coming to him or the check is not large enough to satisfy the assignment, no collection shall be made from the employee for that period.

**Section 3.2** Employees in the unit who are not members of the Association shall pay the Association a fair share fee. This arrangement does not require any employee to become a member of the Association. The deduction of a fair share fee by the public employer from the payroll check of the employees and its payment to the Association is automatic and does not require the written authorization of the employee. The fair share fee shall be equal to the Association dues that all the members pay.

**Section 3.3** The Association hereby indemnifies and holds the Township and/or the Human Resource Manager of the Township harmless from any and all claims of any nature arising out of or resulting from the operation of this deduction procedure and the making of the deductions and subsequent payments pursuant thereto and from any and all costs and expenses arising out of any such claim(s). Such costs and expenses shall include but not be limited to court costs, attorney fees, witness fees and expenses, court judgments and/or court awarded damages and all other costs associated with the defense or prosecution of any such claim(s).

### **Article 4** Representatives

**Section 4.1** The Employer recognizes the right of the employees covered by this Agreement to elect one (1) representative and two (2) alternates from employees in the classifications comprising the bargaining unit. The authority of the representative and alternates so elected by the members shall be limited to, and shall not exceed, the following duties and activities: the investigation and presentation of grievances with a represented employee's supervisors, Fire Chief, Administrator or Trustees in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

**Section 4.2** The representative and alternates have no authority to take, encourage, or tolerate strike action, or any actions interrupting the Employer's business. The representative shall be permitted reasonable time to investigate, present, and process formal grievances on the Employer's property without the loss of pay during his regular working hours, provided that in each and every instance where such time is required, the length of time and the time period within the working hours shall be agreed upon previously by the representative and the Fire Chief. The scheduling of such meetings will not be disruptive to the normal work schedule and where possible efforts will be made to conduct such meetings on off-duty hours.

#### Article 5 No Strike

**Section 5.1** During the life of this Agreement or any extensions hereof, the Association, on behalf of the employees comprising the bargaining unit, agrees that so long as this Agreement or any extensions hereof are in effect, there shall be no strikes (including sympathy, unfair labor practice or economic), slowdowns, walkouts, refusals to perform assigned duties, sit-downs, picketing, boycotts or any activities which interfere, directly or indirectly, with the operation of the Township. Any employee who is absent from work without permission, or abstains wholly or in part from the full performance of his duties in a normal manner without permission, on the date or dates when a strike occurs, shall be presumed to have engaged in such a strike on such date or dates.

**Section 5.2** In the event any employee covered hereunder is engaged in any violation of Section 5.1, the Association shall, upon notification by management, immediately order such employee or employees to resume normal work activities and shall publicly denounce any violation of Section 5.1. The Association, its officers, agents, representatives and members and all other employees covered by this Agreement, shall not, in any way, directly or indirectly, authorize, assert, encourage, participate in, sanction, ratify, condone or lend support to any strike or other activity in violation of this Article.

**Section 5.3** Any strike or any other prohibited activity of the employees entered into or called for by the Association shall constitute a breach of this Agreement and abrogate the obligations of the Employer hereunder.

**Section 5.4** The Township shall have the right to impose discipline up to and including discharge for any employee, who directly or indirectly authorizes, asserts, encourages, participates in, sanctions, ratifies, condones or lends support to any strike or other activity in violation of this Article.

#### **Article 6** Grievance Arbitration Procedure

**Section 6.1** A grievance is a difference or dispute between the parties or an employee concerning the application, meaning or interpretation of the expressed terms of this Agreement, unless otherwise specifically excluded.

#### Section 6.2

- a) A grievance may be brought by the Association on behalf of any member or in its own name where a group of bargaining unit members is affected. The grievance shall be dated and signed by the employee or, where a group of employees are involved, by an Association Representative. The grievance shall set forth the facts which are the basis for the grievance, the article(s) of the Agreement allegedly violated, and the remedy sought.
- b) A grievance may be brought by the Township. The grievance shall be dated and signed by a representative of the Township. It shall set forth the facts that are the basis for the grievance, the Articles of the Agreement allegedly violated, and the remedy sought. A Township generated grievance shall be delivered to an officer or a representative of the Delhi Firefighters Association within ten (10) working days of the date on which the grievance arose or on which the Township became aware of the grievance. The Township and the Association shall meet as soon as possible and attempt to resolve the grievance. If the grievance cannot be resolved, the Township may process the grievance directly to the Arbitration procedure (Step 5) set forth in this Article.
- c) This Procedure constitutes the sole recourse by an employee with respect to disciplinary actions taken by the Township, including removals. Accordingly, this procedure constitutes a procedure for removal "as otherwise provided for" within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code Chapters 505 and 733.
- d) All disciplinary action shall be subject to this Grievance/Arbitration Procedure, except counseling and reprimands. Disciplinary actions and layoffs shall be processed directly to Steps 4 and 5 of this Procedure.

**Section 6.3** In all grievance proceedings the employee has the right to represent himself or to be represented by an association representative or Association legal counsel.

**Section 6.4** A "working day" shall be defined as Monday through Friday, excluding holidays, or any day that the Township Administration Building is closed for normal business.

**Section 6.5** If any employee, the Association, or the Township does not comply with the time limits set forth herein for the filing or processing of a grievance, the grievance shall be considered withdrawn, and thereafter such grievance may not

be presented for consideration by the same Grievant or be made the basis for any action under this Agreement or otherwise. If a Supervisor, Fire Chief, or Township Administrator does not answer a grievance within the time limits set forth herein, the grievance will be considered as denied and automatically appealed to the next step in this Procedure. The parties may extend any of the time limits set forth in this procedure by mutual written agreement.

**Section 6.6** The following steps shall be followed with regard to all grievances unless otherwise specifically provided for in this Article.

#### Step 1:

The aggrieved employee or his representative shall orally present the facts to an Assistant Chief within fifteen (15) working days of the date on which the grievance arose. The Assistant Chief shall render a written decision within ten (10) working days from the date on which the grievance was submitted, and present same to the aggrieved employee or his representative. An employee may initiate a grievance with the Fire Chief in Step 1 if it involves a grievance dealing with actions taken directly by the Assistant Chief.

#### Step 2:

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the Association in Step 1, the Association within ten (10) working days from the receipt of the written response of the Assistant Chief (or Chief if Step 1 is with the Assistant Chief) may submit a written grievance form to the Fire Chief (or Administrator if Step 1 is with the Chief). The Chief (or Administrator if Step 1 is with the Chief) shall, within ten (10) working days from the receipt of the grievance, call a meeting to include the Supervisor and Assistant Chief (or Chief if Step 1 is with the Assistant Chief), the aggrieved party and, if requested, his Association representative or Association legal counsel. The Chief (or Administrator if Step 1 is with the Chief) will preside over the meeting. The purpose of the meeting is to discuss all pertinent facts and positions of the parties. The Chief (or Administrator if Step 1 is with the Chief) shall then render a written decision within ten (10) working days from the completion of the hearing.

#### Step 3:

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the Association in Step 2, the Association, within ten (10) working days from the receipt of the response to the grievance, may appeal this decision by filing written notice with the Township Administrator requesting a meeting. The Township Administrator may conduct a hearing. A written decision will be issued within 20 days of the date of the written notice requesting a meeting.

#### Step 4:

If a grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the Association at Step 3, it may be submitted to arbitration upon request of the Delhi Firefighters Association. The Association shall notify the Township of its intent to seek arbitration within ten (10) working days of its receipt of the Step 3 answer. The Association may withdraw its request to arbitrate at any time prior to the actual hearing. Any cancellation fee due the arbitrator shall be paid by the party or parties canceling the arbitration. Any grievance not submitted within the ten (10) workday period described above shall be deemed settled on the basis of the last answer by the Township or its representative(s).

- a) The arbitrator shall be selected in the following manner. The Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) shall be jointly requested to submit a panel list of nine (9) arbitrators who are residents from FMCS Area #16 (Southwest Ohio). The parties shall alternately strike the name of the arbitrators until only one name remains. Either party may once reject the list prior to said striking and request from FMCS another list of nine (9) until a mutually agreeable arbitrator is selected. The parties may at any time mutually agree to an alternate arbitration service or method of selection of an arbitrator.
- b) If either party challenges the arbitrability of a grievance it shall notify the other party of its challenge and intent to raise the issue at the arbitration hearing. At the hearing, the first question to be placed before the arbitrator is whether or not the issue is arbitrable and within his jurisdiction to decide. If the arbitrator determines the grievance is arbitrable, the grievance will be heard on its merits before the same arbitrator. The arbitrator shall limit his decisions strictly to the interpretation, application, or enforcement of specific articles of the Agreement. In no way may the arbitrator add to, subtract from, alter, change, modify or amend this Agreement.
- c) The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. The arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision within thirty (30) calendar days of the conclusion of testimony and arguments and submission of final briefs. The fees and other costs for the services of the arbitrator, the cost of any proofs produced at the direction of the arbitrator, the fee of the arbitrator, and the cost of the hearing room, if any, shall be borne equally by the parties.
- d) The fees and costs, if any, of any witnesses shall be borne by the party calling them. The fees of the court reporter shall be paid by the party asking for one, or split equally by the parties if both parties desire a court reporter, or request a copy of any transcripts.

## Article 7 Discipline

- **Section 7.1** All disciplinary action shall be for just cause. Counselings and reprimands are not subject to the grievance process.
- **Section 7.2** With the exception of counselings, verbal and written reprimands, disciplinary actions will only be implemented after an informal meeting between the Employee and the Fire Chief or his designee.
- **Section 7.3** The employee shall be entitled to representation at this meeting and shall be afforded the opportunity to answer all charges against him. Prior to any such meeting, the employee shall be provided at least forty eight (48) hours advance notice of the meeting and a copy of the charges. The Employee may request a continuance of the meeting, which shall not be unreasonably denied.
- **Section 7.4** Pending any meeting described above, an employee may be suspended at the sole discretion of the employer.
- **Section 7.5** During the investigation and/or interrogation leading up to the informal meeting, the following safeguards shall be observed:
  - 1. Interviews and meetings will be conducted at reasonable times, preferably (but not necessarily) during the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on Monday through Friday. In the event that the interviews or meetings are not conducted during an Employee's tour of duty, the Employee will be paid at his normal hourly rate of pay for the time of the interview or meeting.
  - 2. If during the investigatory interview session there is cause to believe that the Employee may be charged with a criminal violation, the Employee will be immediately so notified.
  - 3. The Fire Department will use reasonable efforts to notify the affected Employee of any decision rendered as a result of a disciplinary meeting prior to any public statements.
  - 4. The nature of the violation and the Employee's record, shall be taken into account before any disciplinary action is taken.
  - 5. Any part-time non-probationary Employee disciplined by the Fire Chief or his designee (other than a counseling or reprimand) may appeal the disciplinary action in accordance with the grievance procedures as set forth in the "Grievance" Article of this Agreement. A probationary Employee may be terminated without a meeting or hearing, with or without cause, and without recourse of right of appeal.
  - 6. No Employee will be subject to discipline based on alleged wrongdoing for which the Employer had knowledge for more than two (2) years. This does not prevent the Employer from taking the Employee's work record into account before any disciplinary action is taken.
  - 7. This Article is specifically intended to supersede Ohio Revised Code Section 505.38.

## **Article 8 Probationary Employees**

Each new or rehired employee, after the date of this Agreement, shall be required to serve a probationary period of twelve (12) months. A probationary employee may be discharged for any reason or no reason during the period of probation, in the sole discretion of the Employer. Employees recalled from layoff will not be considered probationary employees.

### **Article 9** Personnel Evaluations

As of the effective date of this contract, personnel evaluations, if done, shall take the form and be made in such a manner as prescribed by the Chief and the Standard Operating Procedures, Standard Operating Guidelines and General Orders. Signatures of employees shall be required on performance evaluations and such signing will only mean the employee has read the evaluation. No subsequent evaluation comments may be made on the record copies once signed by the employee.

#### **Article 10 Allowances**

**Section 10.1** Employees who travel on official Township business or for training or professional development purposes, approved by the Chief or his designee as being in the best interests of the township, shall be reimbursed for reasonable travel expenses, including air, rail, or bus fares, parking, lodging and meals. The Delhi Township Trustees may establish maximum reimbursable limits for travel expenses.

**Section 10.2** Registration fees for conferences, seminars, or other such events deemed to be in the best interests of the Township, when approved by the Fire Chief or his designee, shall be paid for the employee either by direct payment or by reimbursement.

**Section 10.3** If an employee has personal property that is destroyed in the line of duty, the Township will replace the item at a cost of up to \$150.00, provided the item is presented to the Township and its damage is substantiated and verified, except eyeglasses destroyed in the line of duty may be reimbursed up to \$300 in the sole discretion of the Township.

**Section 10.4** Travel allowances and allowances for personal property destroyed in the line of duty must be approved by the Fire Chief or his designee in advance.

### **Article 11 Uniforms**

**Section 11.1** Part-time firefighters will be provided the following:

Item	Quantity	
Class C Uniform Shirts	2	
Class C Uniform Pants	2	
Uniform Belt	1	
Uniform T-shirts	3	
Uniform Shorts	1	
Uniform Ball Cap	1	
Uniform Job Shirt	1	
Uniform Coat	1	

**Section 11.2** Additional uniforms may be issued to Employees at the discretion of the Fire Chief or his designee.

**Section 11.3** The items provided to newly employed firefighters may be new items or items that are in the possession of the Township which are usable. After one (1) year of employment, employees will be provided replacement items on an as needed basis as solely determined by the Fire Chief or is designee.

**Section 11.4** A complete Class A uniform will be provided to an Employee as required by the Fire Chief.

**Section 11.5** After one (1) year of continuous service with Delhi Township, and every year thereafter, Employees will be reimbursed up to \$75 for the purchase of work boots. If the Employee chooses to purchase a pair of boots that cost more than \$75, the Employee will be responsible for paying the difference in the cost of boots. Employees must submit a request for reimbursement by December 1<sup>st</sup> each year.

## Article 12 Holidays

If an employee works on one of the following holidays, he will be paid two times his regular rate:

New Year's Day	Labor Day
Martin Luther King	Columbus Day
Presidents' Day	Veterans Day
Memorial Day	Thanksgiving Day
Independence Day	Christmas Day

## Article 13 Physicals & Fitness

**Section 13.**1 Physicals will be conducted according to the department SOG. If the Township makes changes to the SOG, it will provide notice and an opportunity for input to the Union.

Section 13.2 PAT & TJST - In addition to an annual physical, which may be used to determine whether the employee is fit for duty, each Employee shall also participate in an annual Physical Abilities Test (PAT) and a Timed Job-Simulation Test (TJST). Although attempted participation in the PAT and TJST is mandatory, the results of these tests shall not be measured against any standard or norm, and there shall be no requirement that Employees achieve a minimum score on any portion of the tests. Additionally, the PAT and TJST shall not be used to determine an Employee's fitness for duty, ability to perform the essential functions of job duties, or as part of any punitive action against the Employee. Participation in the PAT and TJST is solely for the purpose of providing individual health assessments in the interest of promoting an active and healthy workforce. Employees may be restricted from components of the PAT or the TJST based upon the documented medical recommendation of the Township Occupational Health and Safety (TOHS) Physician.

- a) The PAT and TJST shall be conducted on duty.
- b) The PAT shall include tests for aerobic capacity, body composition, muscular strength, muscular endurance, and flexibility in accordance with NFPA 1583 guidelines effective December 1, 2019.
  - The PAT shall be administered by either a peer fitness trainer or a healthcare professional trained in the administration of fitness evaluations.
  - ii) Where the NFPA 1583 guidelines allow for multiple methods of assessment (e.g. either a 1 mile walk, a 1.5 mile run/walk, a 12-minute run, or other options for assessing aerobic capacity), the Employee may choose which method of assessment to use for each of the five tested categories so long as the Employer provides the necessary equipment associated with the method of assessment. The Employer shall provide the equipment necessary for a Submaximal Graded Treadmill Evaluation, but the Employer shall not be required to obtain any other special equipment in order to provide additional PAT methods of assessment.
- c) The TJST shall include eight events that are attempted consecutively and in full duty gear while breathing air from SCBA (Self Contained Breathing Apparatus). An Employee's total time performing all eight consecutive events is the Employee's score on the TJST. The eight events to occur consecutively are as follows: (i) Ladder carry & raise,

- (ii) forcible entry simulation, (iii) high rise pack carry, (iv) hand line advancement, (v) hand line pull, (vi) pike pole simulation, (vii) equipment carry, and (viii) victim rescue and drag.
  - i) Employees who complete the TJST in under 8 minutes and 44 seconds shall receive an incentive bonus of a \$300.00 lump sum payment. Employees may only receive an incentive bonus for the TJST once per calendar year.
  - ii) The Employer shall provide consultation with a peer fitness trainer or healthcare professional once per year at the Employer's cost for any Employee that attempts the TJST, but fails to complete the test in under 8 minutes and 44 seconds.
  - iii) Employees who fail to complete the TJST in under 8 minutes and 44 seconds shall be permitted to take the test again no greater than ninety (90) days after the first annual test at the Employee's option based on available testing.
- iv) Employees who did not participate in the annual TJST shall participate in the test within ninety (90) days of being cleared by the TOHS Physician.

### **Article 14 Accident Insurance**

Delhi Township shall maintain supplemental accident insurance coverage for part time firefighters. The policy will provide income protection, impairment and death benefits for all employees that are seriously injured on the job. Each part time firefighter must contribute \$1.00 each year toward the annual premium of the policy. This will be done by payroll deduction on the second pay date of January in each year for all current Members and the first pay check for all new hires.

## **Article 15 Seniority**

**Section 15.1** Seniority shall be defined as the length of continuous service measured in years, months, and days that an employee has accumulated as an employee in the service of Delhi Township and the Delhi Township Volunteer Fire Department, Inc.

**Section 15.2** In the event of a layoff, the Fire Chief or his designee will have complete discretion to determine which classifications will be subject to layoff. Within each classification, layoffs will be determined by seniority. For purposes of this Article of the Agreement, the classifications shall be as follows:

- Firefighter/FAO/Paramedic
- Firefighter/Paramedic
- Firefighter/FAO/EMT
- Firefighter/EMT

**Section 15.2.1** In the event of a recall from layoff, the Fire Chief or his designee will have complete discretion to determine which classifications will be subject to recall. Within each classification, recalls will be determined by seniority. For purposes of this Article of the Agreement, the classifications shall be as follows:

- Firefighter/FAO/Paramedic
- Firefighter/Paramedic
- Firefighter/FAO/EMT
- Firefighter/EMT

**Section 15.3** An employee's seniority shall commence after the completion of the probationary period and shall be retroactive to the first day the employee reports for paid duty. If two employees have the same hire date, then alphabetical order of last name shall apply.

**Section 15.4** An employee's seniority will not be affected for any employee who left service during the period of September 1, 2004 through November 30, 2004 and returned to service before May 1, 2006. Such employees shall be considered to have maintained their seniority for all previous service with Delhi Township despite the break in service.

**Section 15.5** An Employee's seniority shall be lost when he:

- a) Terminates voluntarily.
- b) Is discharged for cause.
- c) Exceeds an official leave of absence.
- d) Is laid off for a period of more than one (1) year if the Employee has less than five (5) calendar years seniority or is laid off for a period of more than two (2) years if the Employee has more than five (5) calendar years seniority. If a fire fighter is laid off and remains active and keeps up training on a volunteer basis, the Township, after establishing that the Employee has kept up training, will allow seniority to be continued in effect.

e) Fails to notify the Employer of his intent to return to work (recall from layoff) within fifteen days after the Employer has sent written notice to the Employee. The fifteen days excludes weekends and holidays. Notice must be sent by certified mail to the most recent address the Employee provided to the Employer. It shall be the responsibility of the Employee to advise the Employer of his current address.

## **Article 16 Unpaid Leave**

Employees shall be eligible for unpaid leave in accordance with the following:

**Section 16.1** Leaves of absence, for the performance of duty with the United States Armed Forces or with a Reserve component thereof, shall be granted in accordance with applicable law.

**Section 16.2** Leaves of absence without pay for other reasons may be granted at the sole discretion of the Employer.

**Section 16.3** When an employee returns to work following a leave of absence, he shall be returned to his former classification without loss of seniority and with all across-the-board wage increases, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement.

## **Article 17 Court Appearances**

If an employee is subpoenaed as a witness to appear in a court of law on his scheduled day off to testify about facts which occurred in the line of duty he will be paid up to four (4) straight time hours.

### **Article 18 Hours of Work and Overtime**

**Section 18.1** Each employee is expected to work his assigned shifts as posted during the 28-day work cycle. If an employee find that he is or will be unable to work a given shift, he is expected to complete the following procedure:

- a) Find coverage for the shift by another employee with appropriate skill levels, i.e., paramedic, engineer, etc. as determined by the Fire Chief or his designee based on the skill level of the remaining employees scheduled to work.
- b) Notify the Station Officer on duty that he is unable to work and who will be the replacement at least one (1) hour prior to the scheduled start of the shift. If a trade is made within 24 hours prior to the start of the shift, the person accepting the trade shall have at least the same qualifications as the person requesting the trade.
- c) If unable to find coverage, notify the Station Officer on duty of the situation and what steps have been taken to find coverage, including who was contacted to fill the shift at least six (6) days in advance of the assigned shift.
- d) Emergency situations will be resolved on a case by case basis.

#### Section 18.2

 a) It is preferred that Employees work a unit-day Rotation Assignment depending on availability and current Department needs for coverage. Groups are as follows:

Group A - 24 hours every sixth day (1460)

Group B – 12 hours every third day (1460)

Group C - 12 hours every third night (1460)

Group D - 12 hours every sixth day (730)

Group E – 12 hours every sixth night (730)

Group F – Pro Re Nata (PRN)

Groups A through E are considered Rotation Assignments. Group F is considered as needed and will not be entitled to the same benefits as those on a rotation. Part-time personnel working a rotation will be scheduled based upon their unit day rotation during each scheduling period, but nothing in the Unit-day guidelines will be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per week or for any other period of time should manpower needs of the Department change.

- i) Effective immediately, no employees can transfer into Group C or Group E. Those employees assigned Group C or Group E as of 12/31/2020, may maintain their Rotation Assignment as long as they maintain it continuously.
- b) Group Assignment shall be based on seniority in the bargaining unit and depending on availability and current Department needs for coverage. If two or more firefighters have equal seniority, rotation assignments will be based upon seniority in the Department. Any vacancies in unit day rotation assignments shall be filled by seniority.

- c) Requests for a change of Group Assignment must be submitted in writing to the Fire Chief or his designee. Each firefighter may only be granted one request for a change of Group Assignment every twelve months. If a firefighter enters paramedic school or has a conflict with his full time job, the Chief or his designee has the discretion to allow an additional change of Group Assignment within the rolling twelve month calendar.
- d) Personnel assigned to Groups A, B, and C will be automatically scheduled for approximately 120 hours per 28-day work cycle. Personnel assigned to Groups D and E will be scheduled for approximately 60 hours per 28-day work cycle. All personnel may request to work more hours than those for which they will automatically be scheduled, as set forth herein.
- e) The Fire Chief has the ability to establish levels of personnel permitted to be assigned per Group in such a manner as prescribed by the Chief, the Standard Operating Procedures, Standard Operating Guidelines, or General Orders.

#### **Section 18.2.1**

- a) Each member working on Groups A, B, or C shall be permitted up to 144 hours scheduled time off per year (reference table following paragraph 2). Each member working on Groups D or E shall be permitted up to 72 hours scheduled time off per year (reference table following paragraph 2). Time off will be granted provided at least six (6) days advance notice is given to the Township and provided the request does not reduce daily staffing below levels established by the Fire Chief or his designee at the time of request.
- b) Effective January 1, 2018, Employees shall be entitled to Scheduled Time Off each year as follows:

#### **GROUPS A, B, C (Minimum hours 1,095)**

	0-59 months	60-83 months	84+ months
Scheduled	96	120	144

#### **GROUPS D, E (Minimum hours 548)**

	0-59 months	60-83 months	84+ months
Scheduled	48	60	72

- <sup>1</sup> Minimum hours worked in rotation in previous year, based on an employee's rotational assignment as of December 31<sup>st</sup> of the year previous to the paid time off given.
- c) At the discretion of the Fire Chief, if time off requests for the same day cannot be accommodated, time off requests will be granted by seniority. An initial Scheduled Time Off request period will occur December 1st through December 14th. The Employee will be notified

before January 14<sup>th</sup> of the approval or denial of the scheduled time off request. A secondary Scheduled Time Off request period shall occur April 1<sup>st</sup> thought April 14<sup>th</sup> for the period of May through December. The Employee will be notified before May 14<sup>th</sup> of the approval or denial of the scheduled time off request. Schedule Time Off requested during the secondary Scheduled Time Off request period shall have no impact on scheduled time off approved after the initial Scheduled Time Off request period. Scheduled time Off is not permitted for use on the following holidays: New Year's Day, Columbus Day, Presidents' Day, MLK Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day.

- d) If an Employee does not request scheduled time off between December 1<sup>st</sup> and December 14<sup>th</sup>, then time off will be scheduled by the Fire Chief or his designee in the order that the request was received, as the staffing needs of the Fire Department, at the time of request, will permit in the sole discretion of the Fire Chief or his designee.
  - If two (2) requests are received on the same day, then time off, if approved, will be granted by seniority.
- e) Scheduled Time off for Education and Training that requires attendance away from the Fire Station shall be permitted if the classes are Fire Service related. Approval of Scheduled Time off for Education and Training will be approved in the order that the request was received, as the staffing needs of the Fire Department will permit in the sole discretion of the Chief or his designee. Time off requests for Training and Education with less than six days advance notice shall be considered under the Unscheduled Time off Section 18.2.3. Approved time off for Training and Education shall not be deducted from the contractual time off allotment. If a firefighter needs additional time off for education and training, he may request a change of Group Assignment as outlined in Section 18.2.c.
- f) Any time off work due to an injury or illness that was sustained during employment with Delhi Township will not be deducted from the contractual time off allotment.

### Section 18.2.2 Coverage

- a) The procedure for requesting coverage shall be at the discretion of the Township.
- b) Coverage must be with personnel of appropriate skill level as determined by the Fire Chief or his designee based on the skill level of the remaining employees scheduled to work.
- c) All coverage requests must be approved by the Fire Chief or his designee.

#### Section 18.2.3 Unscheduled Time-Off

a) It is the understanding of the Township that personnel may be absent during their normally scheduled hours due to an emergent or

unscheduled event. Any request for time off with less than a six-day notice shall fall under the designation of unscheduled time off. Depending on the nature of the absence, the Employee may be subject to disciplinary action.

#### Section 18.3 Leave of Absence

- a) An Employee may be granted a Leave of Absence for a period not to exceed 90 calendar days at the discretion of the Fire Chief or his designee. The leave may be extended an additional 30 days at the discretion of the Fire Chief or his designee at the request of the employee.
- b) An Employee shall return all issued equipment and uniforms to the Township during a leave of absence.
- c) If an Employee fails to return to work upon the expiration of the leave of absence, and without an approved extension or notice to the Township, the Employee will be considered to have resigned from employment.

**Section 18.4 Recall:** The Township agrees to pay a recalled employee at time and one-half for the first four hours of the recall. All additional hours worked are at regular rates of pay, but a recalled employee will be paid for at least four hours of pay, at time and one-half rate, regardless of time served. Recall is defined as an emergency, non-scheduled call to duty to which the employee voluntarily responds. Recall does not include a request to cover a short-notice vacancy or any scheduled time and only relates to the current emergency detail.

**Section 18.5 Overtime:** As long as the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), as amended, are applicable to state and local government fire department employees, the Employer shall pay overtime in accordance with existing rules and regulations applicable to the FLSA. Notwithstanding the above language, overtime pay shall begin to accrue one (1) hour after an employee's scheduled departure time if such hold over is in response to a Township service demand.

### **Article 19 Personnel Files**

**Section 19.1** Every employee shall be allowed to review the contents of his personnel file at all reasonable times. Memoranda clarifying and explaining alleged inaccuracies of any document in his personnel file may be added to the file by the respective employee. If there are unsubstantiated or unproven allegations of misconduct, the employee will be so notified and given the opportunity to respond to the allegations in writing and this will not be voluntarily shared outside the Fire Department or used for disciplinary action. An employee will be required to sign an acknowledgement of receiving all disciplinary action when it is placed in his personnel file.

## **Article 20 Longevity Pay**

Section 20.1 The Township shall pay employees the rate of Ten Dollars (\$10.00) per month for each month of part-time service after the first twenty-four (24) months of service of an employee with a maximum limit of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,500.00). For purposes of this agreement, Employees in Groups A, B, and C will need to work a minimum of 1,095 hours and Employees in Groups D and E will need to work a minimum of 548 hours the previous calendar year to be eligible for Longevity Pay. Group F is not eligible for Longevity Pay. For the sole purpose of determining the anniversary date for longevity pay under this Article, the first day of the month in which the employee was hired shall be used as the anniversary date. Longevity pay shall be paid once each year on the last pay date of June. Any time an employee separates employment with the Township, all of the employee's accrued longevity pay shall be paid at the time severance pay is paid. Service with the Delhi Township Volunteer Fire Department, Inc. shall be included in longevity calculations.

**Section 20.2** Any employee who separated from service with the Township between September 1, 2004 and November 30, 2004 and returned to service on or before May 1, 2006, shall receive service credit for all previous service for purposes of longevity calculations.

## **Article 21 Wages**

**Section 21.1 Wage Rates:** The following are the base hourly wages to be received by Employees over the term of the contract. Pay rates are effective through December 31, 2020.

	0-5	6-11	12-35	36-59	60+
	months	months	months	months	months
Year	EMT Base				
2021	\$15.27	\$15.69	\$16.12	\$17.00	\$17.94
2022	\$15.58	\$16.01	\$16.45	\$17.35	\$18.30
2023	\$15.89	\$16.33	\$16.78	\$17.70	\$18.67

Paramedic Certification – additional \$1.00 per hour Delhi Township Fire Apparatus Operator – additional \$0.75 per hour Scheduled on a Unit Day Rotation – additional \$0.25 per hour

Wage increases for Paramedic and Fire Apparatus Operator certifications will be effective the first day of the next pay period after confirmation is received. Pay rate changes due to changing between scheduled on a unit day rotation and pro re nata designation will be effective based on the established shift change protocols. Wage increases between steps will become effective on the employee's anniversary date.

**Section 21.2 Additional Payouts:** Additional payouts (including, but not limited to, longevity payouts) will be made on separate checks if the payment amount is fifty dollars (\$50.00) or greater. Additional payroll payouts that are less than fifty dollars (\$50.00) will be included on the Employee's regular pay check.

### **Article 22 Non-Discrimination**

**Section 22.1** The Township will not discriminate against members of the bargaining unit on the basis of race, color, creed, national origin, age, sex or handicap.

**Section 22.2** There shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, coercion, or reprisals against any employee because of Association membership, or non-membership or participation or non-participation in any lawful activity on behalf of the Association.

## **Article 23 Labor / Management Meetings**

In the interest of sound labor/management relations, unless mutually agreed otherwise, once each quarter on a mutually agreeable day and time, the Chief shall meet with the Officers of the Association to discuss issues within the department and to promote a harmonious labor/management relationship.

#### **Article 24 Association Business**

**Section 24.1** The Township agrees to allow the Association to conduct its business meetings in Township facilities and allow on-duty personnel to attend such meetings, provided the attendance does not interfere with the operation of the Department and on-duty personnel have supervisory permission to attend the meeting which will not be unreasonably denied.

**Section 24.2** The Township allows the members of the Association access to the Association website from Township computers during time periods that are not disruptive to the normal work schedule. The Association recognizes the Township's right to develop and enforce policies and procedures regarding use of Electronic Communications. All Township Policies and Procedures regarding the use of Electronic Communications shall apply.

# **Article 25 Copy of Agreement**

The Township agrees to post the contract on SharePoint and allow access to all members of the Association.

### **Article 26 General Provisions**

Section 26.1 The Association and the Township acknowledge that during the negotiations which preceded this Agreement each had the unlimited opportunity to make demands or proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the agreements arrived at by the Association and the Township after the exercise of such opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. All other areas or matters are not part of this Agreement. Therefore, unless a written provision of this Agreement specifically requires otherwise, the Association and the Township each unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated during the time period covered by this Agreement to negotiate with the other with respect to any subject or matter raised in said negotiations but not covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not raised in said negotiations even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time of the negotiations and/or the date this Agreement was executed.

**Section 26.2** This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Association and the Township. It may be modified or amended during its term only as the result of a mutual voluntary action by each of the parties which has been reduced to writing and is signed by both the Association and the Township.

## **Article 27 Savings Clause**

This Agreement is subject to all future and existing applicable state laws and Township resolutions and in the event the Township adopts a civil service township, civil service rules and regulations would prevail, or in the event the Township becomes a city, city ordinances and resolutions would prevail and if any provision(s) contained herein is contrary to the above, such provision(s) herein contained shall be automatically terminated. Should any article, section or portion of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any court, legislative or administrative tribunal of competent jurisdiction, then such decision or legislation shall apply only to the specific article, section or portion of the Agreement. The parties will meet and discuss the abrogated provision. The remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

## Article 28 Expiration

This Agreement shall be for the three year period ending on December 31, 2023. It is agreed that this Agreement shall renew itself automatically on January 1, 2024 and on each January 1 thereafter unless either party hereto notifies the other party at least ninety (90) days prior to the Agreement's expiration date of its intention to terminate or modify the Agreement and by delivering its proposals to the other party not less than 60 days before the expiration date of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands this 10<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2021.

DELHI FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION

Michael J. McGowan

Eric P. Moorman

yan W. Suesz

DELHI TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Ros anne M. Stertz, Chair

Cheryl A. Sieve, Trustee

Michael D. Davis, Trustee